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INTRODUCTION
A. Federal Trade Commission Complaint

The Federal Trade Commission issued its Complaint in this matter on March 30, 2001.
The Complaint charges that Respondents Schering-Plough Corporation (Schering), Upsher-
Smith Laboratories, Inc. (Upsher-Smith), and American Home Products Corporation (AHP)
engaged in conduct that violates Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C.
845. The Complaint dlegesthat Respondents entered into unlawful agreements to delay entry
of low-cost generic competition to Schering's prescription drug K-Dur 20. Before detailing the
findings of fact and conclusons of law, the following overview is provided.

Schering manufactures and markets two extended-rel ease microencapsulated
potassium chloride products: K-Dur 20 and K-Dur 10, both of which are covered by a
formulation patent owned by Schering, patent number 4,863,743 (the “* 743 patent”), which
expires on September 5, 2006. On August 6, 1995, Upsher-Smith filed an Abbreviated New
Drug Application (*ANDA") with the U.S. Food and Drug Adminigtration (“FDA™) to market
Klor Con M20, ageneric version of Schering’s K-Dur 20. Upsher-Smith submitted a
certification to the FDA, known as a Paragraph |V Certification, with this ANDA certifying that
its product, Klor Con M20, did not infringe Schering’s K-Dur 20 and, on November 3, 1995,
Upsher-Smith notified Schering of its Paragraph 1V Certification and ANDA.

Schering sued Upsher-Smith for patent infringement in the United States Digtrict Court
for the Didtrict of New Jersey on December 15, 1995, dleging that Upsher-Smith’s Klor Con
M20 infringed Schering's ‘ 743 patent. On June 17, 1997, Schering and Upsher-Smith agreed
to sdttle their patent litigation. The Complaint aleges that through this settlement agreement,
Schering agreed to make unconditiona payments of $60 million to Upsher-Smith; Upsher-
Smith agreed not to enter the market, either with the alegedly infringing generic version of K-
Dur 20 or with any other generic verson of K-Dur 20, until September 2001; both parties
agreed to dipulate to the dismissa of the litigation without prejudice; and Schering received
licenses to market five Upsher-Smith products. Complaint at 1 44.

On December 29, 1995, ES Lederle, Incorporated (“ESI”), adivison of AHP,
submitted an ANDA to the FDA to market a generic version of Schering's K-Dur 20. ES|
submitted a Paragrgph IV Certification with this filing and notified Schering of its Paragraph IV
Certification and ANDA. Schering sued ESl for patent infringement in the United States
Digrict Court for the Eastern Didtrict of Pennsylvania on February 16, 1996, dleging that ESl’s
generic verson of Schering’s K-Dur 20 infringed Schering's * 743 patent. The Complaint
adleges that Schering and AHP reached an agreement in principle settling thelr litigation in
January 1998, and they executed afind settlement agreement on June 19, 1998. Complaint at
154. AHP agreed that its ESI divison would not market any generic verson of Schering’s K-
Dur 20 until January 2004, would not market more than one generic version of Schering'sK-
Dur 20 between January 2004 and September 2006, and would not support any study of the



bioequivaence or therapeutic equivaence of aproduct to K-Dur 20 until September 5, 2006.
Complaint a 55. AHP received a payment from Schering of $5 million, and an additiond
payment of $10 million when its generic product received FDA approvd in 1999. Complaint at
1 55.

The Complaint aleges that the agreements between Schering and Upsher-Smith, and
between Schering and AHP, were agreements not to compete that unreasonably restrained
commercein violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. Complaint at 1 68, 69.

The Complaint further dleges that Schering had monopoly power in the manufacture
and sale of potassium chloride supplements approved by the FDA and narrower markets
contained therein, and engaged in conduct intended to unlawfully preserve that monopoly
power, in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. Complaint at  70. And, the Complaint
dlegesthat Schering conspired separately with Upsher-Smith and with AHP to monopolize the
manufacture and sale of potassum chloride supplements approved by the FDA and narrower
markets contained therein, in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. Complaint at 1 71.

B. Respondents Answers

In answersfiled April 23, 2001, Schering, Upsher-Smith and AHP denied that the
agreements were unlawful, and offered a number of affirmative defenses. Upsher-Smith's
answer asserted that its patent settlement agreement with Schering was lawful, reasonable,
procompetitive and in the public interest.

Inits answer, Schering asserted that its settlement agreement with Upsher-Smith
alowed Upsher-Smith to bring its product to market in September 2001, five years before
patent expiration. Schering asserted its settlement agreement with ESl was forged under active
judicid supervison and alowed ESI to bring its potassum chloride product to market over two
years before Schering' s patent expired. Schering further asserted that the Complaint falsto
acknowledge that Schering has avaid patent giving it aright to exclude infringing products, the
Complaint fallsto alege that the procompetitive efficiencies of the settlement do not outweigh
any actud or potentia anticompetitive effects, and that the reief sought by the Complaint is
contrary to public policy because it interferes with settlement of patent infringement litigation.

C. Procedural History

On October 12, 2001, the Complaint against AHP was withdrawn from adjudication
for the Commission to consider a proposed consent agreement. The Commission approved the
find consent order on April 2, 2002. Although AHPis no longer a party to the case, the
legdlity of the Schering/AHP agreement remains at issue with respect to Schering.



Tria commenced on January 23, 2002 and ended on March 28, 2002, covering 8629
pages of transcript, with 41 witnesses testifying, and thousands of exhibits admitted into
evidence. Closng arguments were heard on May 1, 2002.

On February 12, 2002, Upsher-Smith moved to dismiss the Complaint dueto
Complaint Counsd’ sfailure to establish aprimafacie case. Pursuant to Commisson Rule
3.22(e), the ruling on the motion to dismiss was deferred until al evidence wasreceived. Ina
ruling from the bench on March 22, 2002, Upsher-Smith’s motion was denied on the grounds
that the evidence presented created factud issues of dispute sufficient to defeet the motion to
dismiss

On March 6, 2002, the partiesfiled ajoint motion to extend the deadline for filing the
initial decison. By Order dated March 14, 2002, extraordinary circumstances were found to
exig sufficient to extend the deedline for filing the Initid Decison by 60 days until May 31,
2002. The record was closed on March 28, 2002. By Order dated May 29, 2002, continuing
extraordinary circumstances were found to exist and the deadline was extended an additiona
60 days. Thisinitia decison isfiled within 90 days of the close of the record.

D. Evidence

The Initid Decison is based on the transcript of the testimony, the exhibits properly
admitted in evidence, and proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law and replies thereto
filed by the parties. Numerous exhibits were conditiondly admitted. Evidence, including
transcripts from investigationa hearings, which was conditionaly admitted, was considered
even though Complaint Counsdl failed to properly connect up the evidence againg dl parties,
and was found not to be digpositive to the determination of any materid issuein the case.

The parties submitted extensive podt-trid briefs and reply briefs. The Initid Decison
contains only the materid issues of fact and law. Proposed findings of facts not included in the
Initial Decison were rejected either because they were not supported by the evidence or
because they were not dispostive to the determination of the alegations of the Complaint.

Many of the documents and testimony were received into the record in camera.
Where an entire document was given in camera trestment, but the portion of the document
relied upon in this Initid Decison does not rise to the level necessary for in camera treatment,
such information is disclosed in the public verson of this Initid Decison, pursuant to 16 C.F.R.
8 3.45(a) (the ALJI may disclose such in camera materia to the extent necessary for the proper
disposgition of the proceeding).

E. Summary



Based upon the theories advanced by Complaint Counsdl, for Complaint Counsdl to
prove that the agreements to settle the patent litigation between Schering and Upsher-Smith and
between Schering and ESl were anticompetitive requires a presumption that the ‘ 743 patent
was not valid or that Upsher-Smith’s and ESI’ s products did not infringe the * 743 patent.
Thereisno bassin law or fact to make that presumption. In addition, Complaint Counsdl has
failed to meet its burden of proving the relevant product market or that Schering maintained an
illega monopoly within that market. Despite the emotiond gpped which may exist for
Complaint Counsdl’s pogition, an initia decision must be based on substantia, reliable evidence
and wdll reasoned legd andysis. For the reasons et forth below, the violations dleged in the
Complaint have not been proven and the Complaint will be dismissed.

. FINDINGS OF FACT
A. Respondents
1 Schering-Plough Cor poration

1. Schering-Plough Corporation (* Schering”) isaNew Jersey corporation with its
principa place of business at 2000 Galoping Hill Road, Kenilworth, New Jersey. Schering is
engaged in the discovery, development, and marketing of brand-name and generic drugs, as
well as over-the-counter healthcare and animal care products. (Schering Answer at § 3; CX
174 a FTC 0022249-50 (Schering 12/31/99 Form 10K)).

2. Key Pharmaceuticds, Inc. (“Key”), aFFlorida corporation, is a subsidiary of
Schering. (CX 174 at FTC 0022315). It produces K- Dur 20, a 20 milliequivaent potassum
chloride supplement, and holds the patent on that product. Schering Answer at 1 34. Warrick
Pharmaceuticas Corporation (“Warrick”), a Delaware corporation, is asubsidiary of Schering.
CX 174 a FTC 0022318. It produces generic pharmaceutica products, and in some
Stuations, produces generic versions of Schering's patented products once another generic has
entered the market. (Russo, Tr. 3429-30).

3. Schering isa corporation, as “corporation” is defined in Section 4 of the
Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. §44. (Schering Answer at 1 7).

4, Schering’ s acts and practices, including the acts and practices aleged in the
Complaint, are in or affect commerce as*commerce’ is defined in Section 4 of the Federd
Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S. C. 844. (Schering Answer at 1 8).

2. Upsher-Smith Laboratories, Inc.



5. Upsher-Smith Laboratories, Inc. (“Upsher-Smith”) is a business corporation
organized under the laws of the gate of Minnesota that has issued shares of common stock.
(CX 1 (Upsher-Smith Articles of Incorporation); Upsher-Smith First Admissions, Nos. 1, 2.
Its principa place of businessis Plymouth, Minnesota. (Troup, Tr. 5397). Upsher-Smithisa
privately-held company. (Troup, Tr.5398).

6. Upsher-Smith isincorporated, has shares of capita or capital stock, and is
authorized to carry on business for its own profit, and is, therefore, a corporation, as
“corporation” is defined in Section 4 of the Federd Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.

7. Upsher-Smith manufactures pharmaceutica products at its facilitiesin
Minnesota and ships products to the other 49 states of the United States. It purchases
pharmaceutica ingredients for its pharmaceutical products from suppliers located outside
Minnesota, and transfers funds across sate lines in exchange for those ingredients. Upsher-
Smith First Admissions, Nos. 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20 and 21.

8. Upsher-Smith markets its products to retail, chain, and hospital pharmacies,
and to key physician groups, primarily by means of wholesale and drug chain distribution
channels throughout the United States. (CX 317 at USL 01643 (Upsher-Smith Financid
Statements, 1/3/99 and 1/4/98)).

0. Upsher-Smith’s business activities are in or affect commerce as“commerce’ is
defined in Section 4 of the Federa Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. §44.

3. American Home Products Cor poration

10.  American Home Products Corporation (“AHP’) is a corporation organized and
exiging under the laws of Delaware, with its principa place of busness at Five Girdda Farms,
Madison, New Jersey. It engagesin the discovery, development and marketing of brand name
and generic drugs, aswell as“over the counter” medications. AHP Answer at 15; CX 484 at
05 00052.

11. Wyeth-Ayerst Pharmaceuticas, Inc. (“Wyeth”), isasubsdiary of AHP. ES
Lederle, Inc. (*ES”), isabusiness unit of Wyeth. ESI engages in research, manufacture and
sde primarily of generic drugs. AHP Answer at § 6.

12. On October 10, 2001, Complaint Counsdl and counsd for AHP filed a Joint
Motion to Withdraw Respondent American Home Products from Adjudication in order for the
Commission to consider an executed proposed consent agreement. On October 12, 2001, the
Commission issued an Order Withdrawing Matter from Adjudication as to Respondent



American Home Products Corporation. The Commission gpproved the finad consent order
April 2, 2002.

B. The Phar maceutical Industry

13.  Newly developed prescription drugs are sometimes referred to as “ pioneer” or
“innovator” or “branded” drugs. (Hoffman, Tr. 2206-07; Dritsas, Tr. 4621). Approva for an
innovator drug is sought by filing aNew Drug Application (“NDA”) with the U.S. Food and
Drug Adminigration (“FDA”). (Hoffman, Tr. 2207).

14. Newly developed prescription drugs are often protected by patents. (Hoffman,
Tr. 2215). A patent is granted by the federd government to the patent holder giving the holder
exclusve rights to make, use, vend and to import the subject matter covered by the patent
clams. (Miller, Tr. 3310-11:2; O’ Shaughnessy, Tr. 7064-65).

15. A generic drug contains the same active ingredient as the branded or innovator
drug, but not necessarily the sameinactive ingredients. (Hoffman, Tr. 2207; Levy, Tr. 2186).
Approvd for ageneric drug may be sought by filing an Abbreviated New Drug Application
(“ANDA") with the FDA. (Hoffman, Tr. 2209; Troup, Tr. 5403). The ANDA applicant must
demondtrate, among other things, that the generic drug is bioequivaent to the brand-name drug
that it references. (Hoffman, Tr. 2208; Troup, Tr. 5403).

16. When abrand-name prescription drug is protected by one or more patents, an
ANDA gpplicant that intends to market its generic prescription product prior to the expiration of
any patents may proceed to seek FDA approva, but must certify in the ANDA either that (1)
the generic version does not infringe the patents on the brand-name drug or (2) the patents are
invalid. (Hoffman, Tr. 2215-16; Troup, Tr. 5404). Thisisknown asa*Paragraph IV
Certification.” (Hoffman, Tr. 2216; Troup, Tr. 5404).

17. A bioequivdent drug contains the same active ingredient as the reference drug
and is absorbed into the bloodstream &t the same rate and extent, and remains at certain levels
for the same period of time asthe reference drug. (Hoffman, Tr. 2208).

18.  Generic drugsthat are AB-rated to areference drug are considered by the FDA
to be therapeuticaly equivaent to, and subgtitutable for, the reference drug. (Hoffman, Tr.
2278).

19.  Generic drugs can offer price competition to the branded drug. The generic
enters the market at alower price than that of the branded drug. (Teagarden, Tr. 210-11,;
Goldberg, Tr. 137-38; Dritsas, Tr. 4743, 4904-05).



20.  Theprice of generic drugsfdls even further as additiond generic versons of the
same branded drug enter the market. (Schering Answer at {1 17; Goldberg, Tr. 120-21,
Rosenthal, Tr. 1543).

21. Sdes of the branded product decrease after generic entry because generics are
subgtituted for the branded product. (Rosenthd, Tr.1538; Bresnahan, Tr. 462-63).

22. In most states, a pharmacist is permitted to substitute an AB-rated generic
product for a brand name drug, unless the physician directs otherwise. (Hoffman, Tr. 2278;
Teagarden, Tr. 197-98; CX 1493 at 81 (Dolan Dep.); Schering Answer at 118). A pharmacist
cannot subgtitute a generic that is not AB-rated for abranded drug without the physician’s
approval. (Bresnahan, Tr. 491; Russo, Tr. 3468).

23. In some states, pharmacists are required to subgtitute an AB-rated generic
unless the physician directs otherwise. (Bresnahan, Tr. 1178; Addanki, Tr. 5998).

24, In addition to state mandatory substitution laws, Medicaid policies and managed
care plans aso tend to encourage generic subgtitution. (CX 18 at SP 23 00044 (1997 K-Dur
Marketing Plan); Bresnahan, Tr. 491-93).

C. Geographic Market
25.  Thegeographic market isthe United States. (F. 26-28).

26. Purchasers of potassum chloride supplementsin the United States can purchase
these products only from manufacturers who market in the United States, and whose products
have been approved for sdle in the United States by the FDA. (Hoffman, Tr. a 2206).

27.  Schering has FDA approval to sdll its K-Dur extended rel ease potassum
chloridetablets. (Kerr, Tr. 6561). Schering sdalls K-Dur throughout the United States. (CX 18
at SP 23 00044). Of the $290 million in K-Dur 20 sdlesin 2000, Schering made $287 million
of those sdesin the U.S,, and $3 million worth internationdly in 2000. (Audibert, Tr. 4212-
13).

28.  Upsher-Smith has FDA approval to sl its Klor-Con M extended release
potassium chloride tablets. (CX 59; Hoffman, Tr. 2273-74). Since Upsher-Smith began Klor
Con M20 in September 2001, Upsher-Smith has been shipping it to dl the mgor wholesalers
and chain distribution centers throughout the United States. (Kraovec, Tr. 5076-77). Upsher-
Smith does not sell Klor-Con M20 outside of the United States. (Dritsas, Tr. 4620).



D. Relevant Product Market

29.  Therdevant product market isdl ord potassum supplementsthat can be
prescribed by a physician for apatient in need of a potassum supplement. (F. 31-118).

30.  Professor Bresnahan incorrectly defined the relevant product market as K-Dur
20 mEqg. (F. 31-118).

1 K-Dur 20 isone of many potassum chloride products on the
mar ket

31.  K-Durisapotassum chloride product marketed by Schering. (Russo, Tr.
3410-11). K-Dur isprimarily used to treat potassium depletion in coronary artery disease
patients. (Russo, Tr. 3410-11). To treat a patient’s coronary artery disease, physicians often
prescribe products that are dso diuretics, causng adepletion in potassum, referred to as
hypokalemia. (Russo, Tr. 3410-11; Goldberg, Tr. 125-26).

32.  K-Durismarketed in 10 mEq and 20 mEq dosage strengths. (Russo, Tr.
3411). The 10 mEq and 20 mEq labds denote the amount of potassium within the tablet.
(Russo, Tr. 3415).

33. Thereareat least 23 potassum supplements on the market. (Russo, Tr. 3414;
SPX 2209-31; CX 17).

34. Reports from the IM S database reflect that the potassium chloride supplement
category includes a number of products, including K-Dur 10 and 20, Micro K, Micro K 10,
Slow K, K-Tab, Klor Con 8, Klor Con 10, Klor Con M 10, Klor Con M20, as well as other
generd tablet/capsules and generic forms of potassum chloride. (USX 1010; Bresnahan, Tr.
889-90).

35. Managed hedth care offers many choices of ord potassum chloride
supplements. There were at least 24 different combinations of brand and generic potassum
chloride products listed on the 2001 United Healthcare Preferred Drug List. (Goldberg, Tr.
154; USX 277).

36.  Asof 2001, there were numerous branded and generic potassum chloride
products on Merck-Medco'sformulary. (Teagarden, Tr. 207, 216-17; CX 56; CX 57). A
formulary isalist of drugs that the physicians kegp on hand to determine what products and
what portion of the cost the managed care organization will reimburse to the patient. Dritsas, Tr.
4648.



37. Medco, a pharmacy benefit manager and Merck-Medco' s predecessor, regards
10 mEq and 20 mEq potassium chloride products to be “competing.” (Teagarden, Tr. 226;
USX 131 at Merck-Medco 000206).

2. Potassum chloride products ar e ther apeutically equivalent

38.  Thedemand for a potassum supplement “begins when a patient goesinto a
physician and they' re treated for hypokaemia, so the doctor would write a prescription for
KCl.” (Dritsas, Tr. 4644; Bresnahan, Tr. 696).

39. If a physician prescribes a specific amount of potassum, any potassum chloride
product would be effective. (Freese, Tr. 4951-52). A prescription for 20 mEq of potassium
could be satisfied with a potassum chloride powder, effervescent, or liquid. (Freese, Tr. 4953-
54; USX 410 at 190301). Because potassum products are al therapeuticaly interchangesble,
apharmacist could dispense 20 mEq of potassum chloride in whatever product formis
appropriate for the patient. (Freese, Tr. 4956).

40. At maintenance, a physician will typicaly prescribe gpproximately 40 mEgs of
potassium per day. (Russo, Tr. 3423). If adoctor writes a prescription for K-Dur 20, a patient
will take two tablets (one tablet two times aday, with medls). (Russo, Tr. 3423-24). If a
patient’ s prescription is written for a 10 mEq product, the patient will have to take four 10 mEq
tablets, likely two in the morning and two in the evening. (Russo, Tr. 3424).

41.  Just because a potassum chloride product is not AB-rated to K-Dur 20 does
not mean that it is not therapeutically interchangeable for K-Dur 20. (Dritsas, Tr. 4689-90; CX
740).

42.  The FDA’sdesignation of ageneric pharmaceuticd as*AB-rated,” rated or
bioequivaent, to a pioneer drug does not necessarily define the product market for antitrust
purposes. (Addanki, Tr. 5684). Professor Bresnahan incorrectly defined the relevant market as
conssting of 20 mEq tablets and capsules, and a 20 mEq tablet is not bioequivaent to a 20 mEq
capsule. (Addanki, Tr. 5684; Bresnahan, Tr. 675; CX 1586). An AB-rated genericis
substitutable for the branded product, but that does not mean that the AB-rated generic is the
only potentia substitute for the branded product. (Addanki, Tr. 5684).

43.  K-Dur 20's 20 mEq dosage does not give it atherapeutic advantage over other
potassium chloride products. (Russo, Tr. 3421).

44, K-Dur 20 isthergpeuticaly interchangeable with two Klor Con 10s. (Dritsas,
Tr. 4655-56). There isno category of patients who can only take K-Dur 20 and not two Klor
Con 10s. ( Dritsas, Tr. 4661).



45.  Two 10 mEq tablets would effectively release in a patient’s somach a
approximately the same rate as one 20 meq tablet. (Goldberg, Tr. 174-75). If a pharmacist
were to give a patient two Klor Con 10 tablets, rather than a K-Dur 20, the patient would
samply take the two Klor Con tablets at the time that he was supposed to take the one K-Dur
20 tablet. (Dritsas, Tr. 4660-61).

46.  Upsher-Smith’'s 1996 marketing plan for its Klor-Con potassum products
shows that the various release mechanisms for different potassum chloride products dl ddlivered
potassium, and therefore were therapeutically equivalent and comparable. (Dritsas, Tr. 4693-
94; USX 1549; USL 13859).

47. Dr. Addanki looked at whether there were side effect differences between
different potassium chloride products that affected their subgtitutability for each other. (Addanki,
Tr. 5693). The primary side effect associated with potassum chloride products is the possibility

of gastrointestinal (GlI) irritation. (Addanki, Tr. 5693-95). Gastrointestinal irritation is not a
substantial problem, however, as its incidence is low for all oral potassium chloride

supplements. (Addanki, Tr. 6163). K-Dur 20 does not diminate this potentid Gl sde effect.
(Addanki, Tr. 5693-95). Thus, potentid side effect issues do not affect the subgtitutability of
other potassum chloride products for K-Dur 20. (Addanki, Tr. 5695).

48.  Although Schering's marketing strategy for its K-Dur 20 product wasto
emphasize that it could increase patient compliance, there is no significant differencein patient
compliance between K-Dur 20 and Klor Con 10. (Dritsas, Tr. 4662).

3. Customersviewed K-Dur 20 and other potassum chloride
products as inter changeable

49.  According to Complaint Counsd’s witnesses, ord potassum chloride products
are therapeutically equivaent.

50.  Dean Goldberg of United HedthCare (“UHC") tedtified that thereisa
substantial “degree of choice’ in the potassum chloride market. Goldberg, Tr. 126-27.
Goldberg tetified that mogt, if not dl, potassum chloride products are therapeutically equivalent.
Goldberg, Tr. 144 (discussing USX 277, United HedthCare' s Preferred Drug List). Goldberg
aso confirmed that reasonable subgtitutes exist to the 20 mEQ sustained release potassum
chloride product and, that physicians consistently prescribe those products. Goldberg, Tr. 144.

51. Russdl Teagarden, alicensed pharmaci<t, of Merck-Medco, the nation’s largest

Physcian Benefits Manager (“PBM”) tedtified that there is no separate listing for 20 mEq
potassium chloride products on its formulary. Teagarden, Tr. 234 (discussing USX 125); Tr.
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240 (discussing USX 127). He dso testified that at many times, for example in 1993, 1994, and
1995-96, Merck-Medco did not even list K-Dur 20 as a prescription drug on its formulary.
Teagarden Tr. 239-44. Instead, Merck-Medco’s formularies at those times smply listed other
potassium supplements sold by other pharmaceutical companies. USX 127 at 176; USX 128 at
186.

52. Merck-Medco has consstently regarded potassium chloride products with
different ddivery sysems as dinicdly equivadent and therefore interchangesble. (Teagarden, Tr.
249-50; (USX 123; USX 124; USX 125).

53. Merck-Medco equates microencapsul ated tablets and capsules with wax matrix
potassium chloride products. (Teagarden, Tr. 232, 247-48, 250; USX 123-25). Merck-
Medco views branded and generic liquids, sustained release tablets and capsules, effervescent
tablets, and powder potassium chloride supplements as dternative products subgtitutable for one
another. (Teagarden, Tr. 233-34, 237-38, 240, 243, 255-56; USX 125; USX 127; USX 128;
USX 126; USX 690). In addition, 8 mEq and 10 mEq products consstently are listed as
substitutable alternatives on Merck-Medco’ s formularies. (Teagarden, Tr. 234, 240, 243-44,
256; USX 125; USX 127; USX 128; USX 690).

54.  All the potassum chloride products on Merck-Medco’s 2001 formulary are
listed in the same therapeutical class. (Teagarden, Tr. 223-24; USX 131).

55.  All theord potassum chloride products on United Hedlthcare' s Preferred Drug
List are thergpeuticaly equivalent. (Goldberg, Tr. 144-45).

56.  Decigon-makers at HMOs do not place a premium on K-Dur’ s delivery system
or dosage form. (CX 13 at SP 003045; Addanki, Tr. 5691).

57.  Physcansviewed K-Dur 20 as a product for which there were numerous other
aternatives. (Dritsas, Tr. 4834). In 1995, 71 percent of the prescriptions for potassum
chloride supplementation were being written for products other than K-Dur 20. (Addanki, Tr.
6174; CX 13). Asof August 1997, 6 out of 10 potassium chloride prescriptions were for
something other than K-Dur 20. (Bresnahan, Tr. 1279).

58. A company could compete with K-Dur 20 smply by convincing a physician to
change his prescribing habits. (Dritsas, Tr. 4690).

59.  There was sgnificant substitution back and forth between Klor Con 10 and

K-Dur 20. (Dritsas, Tr. 4752; Addanki, Tr. 5702). Pharmacists were subgtituting two Klor
Con 10sfor one K-Dur 20. (Dritsas, Tr. 4834).
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4. Schering viewed K-Dur 20 as competing in the same market as
other potassum chloride products

60.  Schering measures the sales performance of K-Dur 20 againgt the entire
potassium chloride supplement market, including other products such as 10 mEq potassum
chloride products as competitors to K-Dur 20. (Russo, Tr. 3420; CX 18 at 23 000041; CX
17 at 003951, 003954; CX 20 at 00434). Schering’s marketing plansindicate that there are
over 20 different potassium chloride supplements, dl competing in the same market. (Russo Tr.
3414-15; SPX 2209-2231; CX 17). Professor Bresnahan relied on Schering business
documents that combined K-Dur 10 and K-Dur 20 in the same charts and business plans.
(Bresnahan, Tr. 816). Bresnahan did not consider key portions of Schering’s documents that
show Schering considered K-Dur to be a part of alarger potassum chloride market.
(Bresnahan 709-13, 721, 814-17, 824-25).

61. A 1996 Schering marketing backgrounder states that “K-Dur competesin a
crowded $264 million potassium market which continuesto grow. . . ." (Russo, Tr. 3412; CX
17, CX 746; Bresnahan, Tr. 720-21).

62. Schering's 1997 K-Dur Marketing Plan lists competing potassum chloride
tablets and capsules. (SPX 977 at SP003849).

63. Schering perceived that K-Dur’'s mgjor competitors were Klor Con and generic
potassium chloride. (CX 20; Bresnahan, Tr. 827). A number of Schering documents
characterize generic 10 mEq forms of potassium chloride as Schering’s “major competitors.”
(Bresnahan, Tr. 1170).

5. Upsher-Smith viewed its potassum chloride products as
competing in the same market asthe other potassum chloride
products

64. Upsher-Smith believed it was competing againgt everyone selling potassum
chloride, including K-Tab, Micro-K, Ethex, K-Dur, and Slow K. (Addanki, Tr. 5711; SPX
1050). Upsher-Smith focused on the entire potassium chloride market and did not differentiate
between dosage strengths. (Dritsas, Tr. 4692).

65.  Upsher-Smith’s documents indicate thet it was looking a the entire potassum
chloride market in positioning its Klor Con 10 potassum chloride product. (Dritsas, Tr. 4692,
Addanki, Tr. 5711).

66. Inits 1996 market share projections, Upsher-Smith assumed that the potassum
market, which included K-Dur 10, K-Dur 20 and al other potassium products, was a $218
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million market. (Dritsas, Tr. 4700; USX 1549 at USL 13858).

67. A 1996 marketing plan for Klor Con tabletsindicates that the major competitors
to Klor Con 8 and 10 were K-Tab, Micro-K 10, Ethex and K-Dur 20. (Dritsas, Tr. 4691-92,
4696; USX 1549 at USL 13858).

68.  An Upsher-Smith traning manud, dated June 3, 1997, listed a variety of 10
mMEq products competing in the potassum market, including Klor Con 10, K-Tab 10, Klotrix
10, Kaon-Cl, Apothecon’s product Micro-K 10, ESI, Medeva, Ethex, K-Dur 10, K-Dur 20
and K-Plus 10. (Dritsas, Tr. 4738-39; USX 630 at USL 15331). The manua listed a number
of 8 mEq potassum productsin the market, including Klor Con 8, Sow K, Copley 8, Warner
Chilcott 8, Kaon-Cl 8, Abbott 8, Micro-K 8, and K-Plus 8. (Dritsas, Tr. 4739; USX 630 at
USL 15332). Potassum powders in the market were Klor Con 20, Klor Con 25, K-Lor
powder, Kay Ciel powder and Klor-vess powder 20. (Dritsas, Tr. 4739; USX 630 at USL
15333). K-Lor powder is marketed by Abbott Laboratories, amgjor, multi-billion dollar
pharmaceutical company. (Dritsas, Tr. 4739-40). Findly, at least two effervescent tablet
products were in the potassum market, Klor Con/EF and K-Lyte. (Dritsas, Tr. 4740; USX
630 at USL 15333).

69.  Upsher-Smith's marketing documents reflect the fact that K-Dur 20 “competes
directly againgt the 8 and 10 mEq strengths’ of Upsher-Smith’sKlor Con. (Bresnahan, Tr. 845;
Dritsas, Tr. 4689, 4696; CX 740).

6. The substantial subgtitutability among potassum chloride
products was reflected in actual competition between them

(@ Upsher-Smith directly targeted K-Dur 20 by emphasizing
the subgtitutability of Upsher-Smith’sKlor Con 10 mEq
product

70. Upsher-Smith built demand for its Klor Con potassium chloride products based
on therapeutic subgtitution. (Dritsas, Tr. 4653).

71. In order to compete against Schering’s K-Dur 20, Upsher-Smith’s sales
representatives informed physcians and managed care organi zations that they could more
cheaply subgtitute two Klor Con 10 tablets for one K-Dur 20 tablet. (Dritsas, Tr. 4622-23).

72. In August 1999, Upsher-Smith employed a tactic to encourage high prescribers

of K-Dur 20 to prescribe two 10 mEq tablets instead of one K-Dur 20. (Dritsas, Tr. 4765-66;
USX 484 at USL 03330).
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73. K-Dur 20 tablets are scored, making them easier to break in half. (Freese, Tr.
4955). Because many patients had to break the large K-Dur 20 tablet in half to swallow it
anyway, patients could save money by taking two Klor Con 10s instead of one K-Dur 20.
(Dritsas, Tr. 4622-23). Upsher-Smith’s Klor Con 10 wax matrix tablet was about the same
Szeashaf aK-Dur 20 tablet. (Dritsas, Tr. 4624; Freese, Tr. 4955). Klor Con 10 was easier
to swallow, though, because a halved K-Dur 20 tablet was bulky with rough edges. (Dritsas,
Tr. 4624). Klor Con 10 was round and aqueous coated, a good alternative for patients
complaining about swallowing a big tablet. (Dritsas, Tr. 4624).

74.  Upsher-Smith implemented thergpeutic switch incentive programs through its
telephone sdes force by targeting high volume K-Dur pharmacies, through visits to the
headquarters of chains, wholesalers and managed care organizations, and by targeting long term
care and select chains. (Dritsas, Tr. 4754-56; USX 1551 at USL 13795). Upsher-Smith also
sent direct mail to high K-Dur prescribers about the cost savings of using two Klor Con 10s
instead of one K-Dur 20. (Dritsas, Tr. 4756-58; USX 1551 at USL 13795).

75.  Direct mailings emphasized the quality of Klor Con and the 56 percent savings.
(Dritsas, Tr. 4766; USX 484 at USL 03328). These mailings continued through November
1999. (Dritsas, Tr. 4766-67; USX 484 at USL 03331).

(b) Schering competed againgt other potassum
chloride products

76. During the 1996 -1997 period, Klor Con 10 sales increased 33 percent, moving
from 12 percent of total prescriptionsto 16 percent. (Bresnahan, Tr. 831). Generic potassum
chloride sales increased during the same period, moving from 29 percent to 30 percent of tota
prescriptions by 1997. (Bresnahan, Tr. 832).

77.  Thisgrowth was coming a K-Dur 20's expense. (CX 746 at SP 23 00039;
Bresnahan, Tr. 743-45, 477; CX 18; SPX 901). Generic competition was growing a K-Dur
20's expense, in part because of the generics price advantage, in part because of efforts to
substitute two 10 mEq tablets for one K-Dur 20, and also because of managed care’srolein
requiring the use of generics. (Addanki, Tr. 5708, 5732-33; SPX 993 at SP 290039; CX 20
at SP 004040).

78.  Schering expected that losses to 10 mEq generics would worsen over time. “As
physicians change their prescribing habits and as the senior population moves into the managed
care setting, the branded portion of the market will decrease and the potentia for K-Dur volume
growth will belimited.” (CX 13 at SP 003046). Documents from the March 1995 time frame
reflect concerns that staff HMO “decision makers do not place a premium on K-Dur’ s unique
ddivery system and dosage form.” (CX 13 at SP 003047; Bresnahan, Tr. 717).
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79. In 1995, Schering developed a marketing strategy to address competition from
generic 10 mEq products. (CX 13 a SP 003046; Bresnahan, Tr. 715-16). Schering sought to
develop brand awareness of, and brand dlegiance to, the K-Dur brand to prevent an
anticipated loss of market share to generic competition. (Bresnahan, Tr. 714-715; CX 13 at
SP 003044- 48).

80.  Asof July 1996, Schering was aggressvely marketing K-Dur to gain sdles from
generic potassium chloride products. (CX 718 at SP 23 00039; Bresnahan, Tr. 742). Schering
began atargeted mail seriesto promote K-Dur 20 in an effort to “ blunt the continued growth of
generic potassum usage.” (CX 718 at SP 23 00054); Bresnahan, Tr. 758; CX 18 at SP 23
00039). Schering ran asgnificant number of promotiona programs over aten-year period that
heavily promoted and marketed both its K-Dur products. (Russo, Tr. 3418-19).

7. Brown Shoe factors not addressed in the preceding sections
a. No industry or public recognition of distinct markets

81.  Complaint Counsd’s expert, Dr. Bresnahan, admitted that he could not cite any
pharmaceutical trade periodicalsthat treat K-Dur 20 as a product that has unique features.
(Bresnahan, Tr. 711-12; 1271-72).

82. No studies exist comparing patient compliance for K-Dur 20 and the Klor Con
8 mEq and 10 mEq wax matrix products. (Dritsas, Tr. 4662; Kerr, Tr. 6907-08).

83. IMS, the authoritative industry data source, lists a number of products and
manufacturers under its single potassium supplement category numbered 60110. (Dritsas, Tr.
4709-12; 4800-01; USX 619 at 14884-996; USX 822 at 1-12). Schering’s K-Dur 20
product isincluded in the IMS listing with al of the other potassum products. (Dritsas, Tr.
4709; USX 822 at 1). Professor Bresnahan concedes that “all economic researchers. . .
working inthisindustry use’” IMS data. (Bresnahan, Tr. 471). In fact, Bresnahan himsdf relied
on IMS datafor the graph in CX 1596. (Bresnahan, Tr. 735).

b. No peculiar characteristics and uses

84.  Thereareno peculiar characterigtics or uses for K-Dur 20. (F. 38-59).
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C. No unique production facilities

85.  TheK-Dur 10 and K-Dur 20 mEq products are produced in the same Schering
fecility. (Bresnahan, Tr. 1272).

86.  Upsher-Smith purchases from Rehes, the same company that suppliesthe active
ingredient for both the wax matrix Klor Con 8 and 10 and sustained release Klor Con M10 and
M20. (CX 263 at 170356.).

d. No digtinct customers

87.  Thereisno digtinctive class of customers based on *demographics or other
classfication criterid’ that prefer K-Dur 20. (Bresnahan, Tr. 707). K-Dur 20, Klor Con 8 and
10, Micro-K, K-Tab, Slow K, K-Lyte, Klotrix, Apothecon KCL and Ethex potassium chloride
products are dl prescribed for the same purpose of treating potassum deficiency. (Bresnahan,
Tr.1271; Dritsas, Tr. 4662).

88.  Thereisno specid group of patients that can only take K-Dur 20 and can not
take other potassium products such as Klor Con. (Dritsas, Tr. 4661).

e. No distinct prices

89. In 1997, K-Dur had the same relative price as other potassum chloride
supplements. (Teagarden, Tr. 224, 215, 218). During thistime period, branded potassium
products had “comparable’ pricesto K-Dur 20. (Bresnahan, Tr. 730). K-Dur and other
potassum chloride supplements have “ approximately the same’ price. (Russo, Tr. 3426).

90.  Dr. Bresnahan presented no statistical pricing study (Bresnahan, Tr. 1274), and
did not even have pricing datafor K-Dur 20, K-Dur 10, Klor Con 10 or for any other
competitors (Bresnahan, Tr. 834-35. 867). During 1997, some potassum chloride products
were more expensive than K-Dur 20. (Addanki, Tr. 5741-42; SPX 2069 at 1).

91. Dr. Bresnahan conceded that a pricing difference aone does not suffice to prove
a separate product market. (Bresnahan, Tr. 1002). Prices of products that competein a
relevant market need not be close to one another becauise competition can occur in other
dimensions. (Addanki, Tr. 6198).

92.  Professor Bresnahan did not conduct the andysis necessary to determine the

degree of price sengtivity between 20 mEq sustained-rel ease products and other potassum
products. (Bresnahan, Tr. 689-90, 810).
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93. Professor Bresnahan did not study the price trend of K-Dur 20 since September
1, 2001, when new entry occurred in the market. (Bresnahan, Tr. 1003).

94.  Upsher-Smith launched Klor Con M10 on September 1, 2001. (Dritsas, Tr.
4827).

95. Upsher-Smith launched Klor Con M 10 aggressively against K-Dur 10
smultaneoudy with the launch of Klor Con M20 against K-Dur 20. (Troup, Tr. 5486-88).

96.  Jud prior to the launch of Klor Con M10, K-Dur 10 sdes began to fal
dramatically beginning in the summer of 2001 and continuing through November 2001. (Dritsss,
Tr. 4827, USX 1557). K-Dur 20 sdesfollowed the same trend in the summer of 2001 and
continued though November 2001. (Dritsas, Tr. 4823; USX 1586).

97. Upsher-Smith launched Klor Con M10 in the midst of K-Dur supply problems
that began earlier in the summer of 2001, just prior to the launch of Klor Con M10. (Troup, Tr.
5488-89). Dueto thelack of availability of K-Dur, Upsher’s potassum chloride sales were
aready on the rise, when Klor Con M 10 and M 20 were launched into the market. (Troup, Tr.
5488-89).

98. Upon its entry into the market with Klor Con M 10, Upsher-Smith had a
sgnificant sesincrease in its potassum chloride products. (Troup, Tr. 5489-90). Upsher-
Smith had record sales of wax-matrix potassum chloride products in the year 2001 as well.
(Troup, Tr. 5490).

99.  While Upsher-Smith enjoyed strong sdes for its Klor Con M 10 product, this
was due partialy to the supply shortages Schering faced for both K-Dur 20 and K-Dur 10, due
to FDA compliance issues that arose during the summer of 2001. (Dritsas, Tr. 4682, 4825).

100.  Upon the launch of Klor Con M 10 as a generic substitute to K-Dur 10,
mandated state substitution for low cost generic dternatives took effect in severd dates.
(Dritsas, Tr. 4824-25). These laws frequently block the prescribed branded product from being
dispensed when a generic dternative is available, and thus prevent competition from the branded
product completely. (Addanki, Tr. 5748-49; Dritsas, Tr. 4824-25). Similarly, in the K-Dur 20
market, state substitution laws that mandated substitution by a generic dternative negetively
affected Schering’ s sales. (Dritsas, Tr. 4682, 4825).

101. K-Dur 10in June 1997 amounted to 5% of the total prescriptions for potassum
chloridein the United States. (CX 62 at SP 089326-27). K-Dur 10 saes performed just as
Schering’s K-Dur 20 performed. Despite the price increases for K-Dur 10, K-Dur 10's sales
rose and in fact rose faster than K-Dur 20’'s sales. (CX 62-65).
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102. Professor Bresnahan incorrectly asserts that K-Dur 20 isamonopoly
(Bresnahan, Tr. 8147), but he concedes that K-Dur 10 was not amonopoly. (Bresnahan, Tr.
8146-47; Addanki, Tr. 5740).

103.  While K-Dur 10 was not a monopoly product, K-Dur 10 salesfell just as
dramatically as K-Dur 20, when Klor Con M 10 became available on September 1, 2001.
(Addanki, Tr. 5739-40; Dritsas, Tr. 4823-28; USX 1586; USX 1557).

f. Price sengitivity

104. Priceisamagor compstitive factor in the potassum supplement market.
(Dritsas, Tr. 4715-16; USX 626 at 15228 ).

105. Generic potassum products competed vigoroudy on price with branded
potassium products, taking away sales and market share. (Dritsas, Tr. 4715-18, 4724-25,
4752-53, 4770-72; USX 626 at 15228; USX 1551 at 13791; USX 425 at 1002952).

106.  K-Dur 20 lost some market share to other potassum chloride products. (CX
18 at 23 00045, CX 20 at 004040; Dritsas, Tr. 4717-18, 4752-53). K-Dur 20 also took
market share and sales from other potassum products. (Dritsas, Tr. 4719-20, 4724-25, 4742,
4752, 4841; CX 19 at 15228).

107.  Generic manufacturers, such as Apothecon, increased their sales of potassum
supplements with lower prices, suggesting price sengtivity and an ability to gain share a the
expense of other products in the market with lower prices. (Dritsas, Tr. 4763-64, 4770-72,
4909-10; Addanki, Tr. 6176-79; CX 50 at 13474; USX 380 at 142328; USX 425 at
1002952.).

108.  Upsher-Smith’'s Dolan wrote that afirm may have again in sales after cutting

prices. Sow-K, for example, showed a unit increase of 41% from 1994 to 1995 while their
dollar share continued to decline. (Addanki, Tr. 6181).

(. Schering K-Dur priceswere sendtive to other
potassum supplement prices

109.  According to Schering, the pricing of K-Dur 20 was depressed due to generic
potassium competition. (Russo, Tr. 3416).

110. The 30% price difference between K-Dur 20 and the unbranded generic

18



potassium products caused the sales of the generic productsto rise, as noted in the 1998 K-
DUR Marketing Plan. (CX 20 at 4040).

111. Schering' s price for K-Dur 20 was not the highest for potassium chloride
supplements during this time — other products were both lower and higher than K-Dur 20 for a
20 mEqg dose. (Addanki, Tr. 5741; SPX 2069). IMS data showsthat in 1997, K-Tab 10 was
the highest priced potassium chloride product. (Addanki, Tr. 5742; SPX 2069). Between
1996 and 2000, K-Dur 20 was never the highest priced potassium chloride supplement.
(Addanki, Tr. 5743; SPX 2068). Schering’'s K-Dur 20 competed on price with other
potassium chloride products by using discounts and rebate programs. (Addanki, Tr. 6172-73).

112. Professor Bresnahan testified that he did not compare Schering’s prices against
other potassum products pricing in forming his opinion asto the rdevant market in thislitigation.
(Bresnahan, Tr. 725, 867).

113.  Professor Bresnahan aso did not measure the cross-eladticity of demand
between competing potassium productsin conducting his andys's of the potassum market and
K-Dur 20. (Bresnahan, Tr. 810).

(i)  Schering paid largerebates

114. The annua rebates Schering-Plough paid to its customers for K-Dur for 1995
were $21.005 million. (CX 695 at SP 020696). The annua rebates Schering-Plough paid to its
customers for K-Dur for 1996 were $28.659 million. (CX 695 at SP 020696). The annua
rebates Schering-Plough paid to its customers for K-Dur for 1997 were $17.593 million. The
annua rebates Schering-Plough paid to its customers for K-Dur for 1998 were $34.565 million.
(CX 695 at SP 020699). The annua rebates Schering-Plough paid to its customers for K-Dur
for 1999 were $37.602 million. (CX 695 at SP 020700-701). The annual rebates Schering-
Plough paid to its customers for K-Dur for 2000 were $35.214 million. (CX 695 at SP
020701). These rebates were “sgnificant” and were “more than 10 percent of the gross saes of
K-Dur” in 2000. (Addanki, Tr. 6173-74). Inthefirst Sx calendar months of 2001, Schering-
Pough paid its K-Dur customers $23.530 million in rebates for K-Dur. (CX 695 at SP
020702).

115. From October 1, 1997 to June 30, 2001, Schering-Plough paid its K-Dur
customers atota of $136.566 million in rebates related to its K-Dur product. (CX 695 at SP
020698-0702).

116. The rebatesthat Schering-Plough paid its K-Dur customers after the June 1997

Agreement with Upsher-Smith demondtrate that Schering-Plough “[was] competing on price
through rebates’ (Addanki, Tr. 6173). The tens of millions of dollars paid to K-Dur customers
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In rebates is incons sent with the theory that Schering-Plough was a monopolit in the sale of its
potassium products during this time period. (Addanki, Tr. 6173).

117. Professor Bresnahan did not study Schering's rebates a dl in connection with
hiswork in thiscase. (Bresnahan, Tr. 702). Nor did Professor Bresnahan study Upsher-
Smith' srebate programs. (Bresnahan, Tr. 702). Further, Professor Bresnahan did not compare
the two firms relative leve of rebate spending on potassum chloride (Bresnahan, Tr. 702).

g. No specialized vendorsfor various potassum products

118.  No specidized vendors serve only K-Dur 20 — both Klor Con and K-Dur 20
are dispensed by pharmacies in response to prescriptions written by doctors. (Bresnahan, Tr.
695-96). Both drugs are prescription medications for potassum. (Bresnahan, Tr. 696-97).
Petients who are hypokaemic receive precriptions for a potassum supplement when they visit
the doctor. (Bresnahan, Tr. 696). Demand for both products begins when a patient presents
himself to adoctor. (Bresnahan, Tr. 696). Prescriptions are dispensed for both products at
pharmacies. (Bresnahan, Tr. 697-99).

E. The ‘743 Patent and Schering's K-Dur Products

119. Potassum chloride supplements are prescription drugs used to treat potassum
deficiency (known as “hypokademid’), a condition that often arises among individuas who take
diuretic medications used to treat high blood pressure or congestive heart disease. (Goldberg,
Tr. 125-26; CX 3 at FTC 190286-89; CX 19 at USL 15229). Potassium deficiency can cause
muscle weakness and life-threatening cardiac conditions. (CX 3 a FTC 190286-88; CX 26 at
USL 07336; Goldberg, Tr. 125-26; Schering’s Answer at § 22; Banker, Tr. 2950).

120. Potassum chloride, the active ingredient in potassum chloride supplements,
including K-Dur 20, is not patented. (Schering Answer at § 33; Banker, Tr. 3251).

121.  Patent number 4,863,743 (* 743 patent) clams a* pharmaceutica dosage unit in
tablet form for ord adminigration of potassum chloride’” containing potassum chloride crystas
coated with amaterid comprising ethylcdlulose, having a viscosity greater than 40 cp, and
hydroxypropoylcellulose or polyethylene glycol. (CX 12 & FTC 0021322). The novd feature
clamed in the * 743 patent is the particular coating applied to the potassium chloride crystds.
The active ingredient, potassum chloride, was a known compound. The coating alows for
sustained-release delivery of the potassum chloride. (CX 12 at FTC 0021319-20). Thus, the
‘743 patent relates primarily to the sustained-rel ease formulation and does not cover the active
ingredient itself. (Banker, Tr. 2947; Horvitz, Tr. 3625-27).

122.  Key Pharmaceuticas, adivison of Schering, ownsthe ‘743 patent. The ‘743
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patent, issued on September 5, 1989, covers K-Dur 20 (as well as K-Dur 10, a 10 mEq
verson of the product) and expires on September 5, 2006. (Schering Answer at {1 34; CX 12
at FTC 0021318).

123. K-Dur 20 isacontrolled release, microencapsulated, potassum chloride
product devel oped by Key Pharmaceuticals in the 1980s and approved by the FDA in 1986.
(Kerr, Tr. 7561). The“20” in K-Dur 20 refersto 20 mEq (milliequivadent), the amount of
potassium contained in the 20 mEQ dosage form. (Bresnahan, Tr. 489).

124.  Complaint Counsd’s expert witnesses did not reach an opinion as to whether
the * 743 patent isinvaid or infringed by Upsher-Smith’s or AHP s products. (Bresnahan, Tr.
670; Bazerman, Tr. 8568; Hoffman, Tr. 2351).

F. Upsher-Smith’s Potassum Products and Patent Litigation
1. Upsher-Smith’s ANDA and theinitiation of patent litigation

125.  OnAugust 8, 1995, Upsher-Smith filed an ANDA with the FDA to market
Klor-Con M in two dosage forms, 10 mEq and 20 mEq, as bioequivaent versons of Schering's
K-Dur products. (USX 695). Upsher-Smith subsequently amended its ANDA submission to
remove the 10 mEq dosage form from congderation, due to the FDA'’sinitid rgection of a
biowaiver for the 10 mEq dosage form. (CX 255). The FDA determined that no ANDA filer
was digible to have exclugvity for any 10 mEq dosage form of any generic verson of K-Dur.
(USX 345).

126. Atthetimeof its ANDA submission, Upsher-Smith was not aware thet it was
the first ANDA filing referencing K-Dur 20. (Troup, Tr. 5491; Dritsas, Tr. 4666). After
amending its ANDA to remove the 10 mEq dosage form, Upsher-Smith submitted a Paragraph
IV Certification. (CX 224). On November 3, 1995, Upsher-Smith notified Schering of its
ANDA filing and Paragraph IV Certification with respect to the 20 mEq dosage form. (CX
224; Troup, Tr. 5404).

127.  On December 15, 1995, pursuant to the time period set forth in the Hatch-
Waxman Act, Schering sued Upsher-Smith for patent infringement in the U.S. Didrict Court for
the Didtrict of New Jersey, dleging that Upsher-Smith's Klor Con M infringed Schering's ‘743
patent. (USX 677; Kralovec, Tr. 5032; Troup, Tr. 5404). Trid of the patent case was
scheduled to begin on June 18 or 19, 1997. (Hoffman, Tr. 3549).

128. Notestimony or evidence was offered to show that Schering sfiling of the
patent litigation againgt Upsher-Smith was not initiated for the legitimate purpose of defending its
patent.
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2. Settlement discussions between Schering and Upsher-Smith

129. Inthe patent litigation, Schering aleged that Upsher-Smith’s Klor Con M20

product infringed the ‘ 743 patent because [ redacted ]
[ redacted ]
[ redacted ] (Banker, Tr. 5254-55; SPX 2258; SPX 2259).
Schering also asserted that | redacted ||
redacted 1 [
redacted ] [(Banker, Tr. 5257-59:16; SPX 2258; SPX
2260).

130. Initsanswer to Schering’s complaint, dated January 29, 1996, Upsher-Smith
denied that its product infringed “any clam of the ‘ 743 patent,” and asserted, as affirmative
defenses, that the claims of the * 743 patent were invalid and that the * 743 paten